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f~1 Original Site

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

A wood frame, so-called Temple-style house of the Greek Revival period. 
The buiialng is exceptionally small,and described as "an Ionic tetra- 
prostyle porticoed one-story structure," built in 1831, Its original 
sTtcTwas the corner of Main Street and North Monroe. In 1960 it was 
•toyed to the Cotton House grounds. It is the original building, faith­ 
fully restored. The building is equipped as a small town law office 
with soj5^jo£igj.nal Baird items. It is marked with an official Wisconsin 
historical marker.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Architecture. The Baird Law Office is significant as one__of_t.wo remaining 
Greek Tempiejoui^dings in Wisconsin of unusually diminutive scale but with 
especIaTIy^careful execution of detail. 1

Political, Historical. The Baird Law Office is believed to be the oldest 
law office west of the Great Lakes and was built before the Wisconsin Ter­ 
ritory was established. Henry S^JJaird, whcToccupied it, was admittedto 
the bar in 1823 at Mackinac~Tsland t^movedto GreenBay, and at a special 
session of Judge James Duane Doty's court, on October 4, 1824, was admit­ 
ted to practice before the Michigan Territorial Court, becoming the £irs_t 
professional lawyer to practice in what is now Wisconsin. Baird was 
promi1tie"ST'"1^]^ii^^alriair8, a counsel for the Winnebago and Menominee 
tribes for sale of their lands in 1830, a secretary to Henry Dodge during 
the signing of the Treaty at the Cedars in 1826, and a secretary at the 
council held at Lake Poygan in 1848. Elected.^tp the Wisconsin Territorial 
Council in 1836 as a Whig, he served as president during its first session. 
From 1836 to 1839 he was Attorney General for the Wisconsin Territory; in 
1846 was a delegate to the Wisconsin Constitutional Convention; in 1853 was 
the Whig candidate for governor; and in 1861-62 was mayor of Green Bay. 
He retired from active practice in 1865.

Social/Humanitarian. Baird f s wife, Elizabeth Therese Fisher Baird, came 
with him to Green Bay from Mackinac Island as a fourteen-year-old bride 
in 1824 and became one of the most popular and historically famous women 
of the Wisconsin frontier. Her stories of her experiences as a girl on 
the island and her life in territorial Wisconsin have been preserved by 
the State Historical Society of Wisconsin and are a valuable source of 
information on western history of her time.

1. Perrin, R. W. E., Historic Wisconsin Buildings, 29-30.



"Baird, Henry Samuel, 11 in Dictionary of Wisconsin Biography, The State
Historical Society of Wisconsin, Madison, 1960, 21-22. 

Perrin, Richard W. E., Historic Wisconsin Architecture, Wisconsin Chapter
of the American Institute of Architects, Milwaukee, 1960, 31. 

Perrin, Richard W. E. , Historic Wisconsin Buildings, 1835-1870, Milwaukee
Public Museum, 1962, 29-30, 33. 

Ellis, E. H., "Memoir of Henry S. Bair 
reprint ed. , 7:426-443 (Madison, 1

d," Wisconsin Historical Collections,
903).
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DESCRIBETHE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Built in 1835, this well-proportioned, diminutive (16* x 20*) wood frame Temple* 
style Greek Revival building is described by Perrin as "an Ionic tetraprostyle porticoed 
one-story structure,"1 although only the two center columns of the portico are round» 
fluted, and have Ionic capitals. The corner columns are square* Horizontal cornices 
are denticulated, but the raking cornices of the pediment are not enriched* sides and 
rear of" the building are clapboarded; the front wall and the tympanum of the pediment 
are covered with horizontal flush board siding. Windows are all 6/6 double hung sash* 
The single front door has two tiers of molded panels, and its surround is molded trim 
with corner blocks* Despite numerous moves since it was built, this is the original 
building. It is equipped as a typical small town lav/ office of the early nineteenth 
century. The law office contains none of Henry Baird's books or furnishings but does 
contain a dictionary which is autographed by Mrs* Baird.

The building*s original site was the corner of Main Street and North Monroe 
Avenue in the area of Green Bay that was originally named Navarino. where it was built 
by Samuel W. Beall for use as the land office, for which he was appointed receiver in 
1827* In 1841, Henry S. Baird purchased Beall*s property and moved the office across 
the street to a site on the north side of Main Street between Madison and Monroe near 
the Baird house* 2 Baird used it as his law office until he retired in 186S, and it re- 
mained on his land until his death in 1875. Sometime thereafter it was sold and moved 
to the 900 block of Elm Street,4 about four or five blocks northwest of its original 
site* It was then remodeled for residential use and lived in until about 1950* The 
integrity of the exterior has always been maintained, however, as revealed by occasional 
photographs taken over-a long period of years. "There it remained /on Elm Street/* 
gradually deteriorating and virtually forgotten until 1948, when the Brown County Histori­ 
cal Society began negotiations to acquire it..,It wasn't until 1953 that title was ob­ 
tained, however, and the building moved.*.to the courthouse lawn. During the movement 
it was found to be badly in need of rehabilitation, and that became a project of the 
historical society and the county bar association, 1*5 It was faithfully restored in 1954 
with funds provided by the Kellogg-Citizens National Bank. (Baird had been one of the 
civic leaders who pursuaded Rufus Kellogg to come to Green Bay and start the bank in 1874 
and was an early director and a legal advisor to the institution at the time of his 
death*)6 In 1955 the building was opened to the public* 7

The old law office's presence on the courthouse grounds created problems, how­ 
ever. Before the move could be made in the first place, the Green Bay Common Council 
had to make an exception to the city's fire regulations, which prohibit frame buildings 
in the business area. Later, complaints arose when members of the county board of super­ 
visors began to park their automobiles on the lawn surrounding the little building* 
Finally, as an early move toward the establishment of a historical park, the Baird Law 
Office was moved to the grounds of the Cotton House, a property owned by the Brown 
County Historical Society, in I960* 8 (Both the Cotton House and the Baird Law Office 
became National Register properties in 1970.)

Members of the Brown County Historical Society had been thinking for some time of 
moving-a number of their historically significant buildings to a common site, specifically 
a portion of state reformatory land in the Town of Allouez which possessed significance 
itself as part of the site of Camp Smith in the early days of Fort Howard (c* 1820)*
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In 1960 the Green Bay Press-Gazette reported that at a meeting on February 3 t the county 
historical society's proposed historical park received the endorsement of the Brown 
County Historical Commission. It was stated that "The Historical Society would like a 
mall development from Webster Avenue to the Fox River. Among the buildings which have 
been recommended for transfer...are the Henry Baird Law Office on the courthouse lawn f 
East Moravian Church, and the Fort Howard buildings."9 (The Tank Cottage was later 
added to the list.) Two important considerations in the evolution of the proposal were 
the facts that except for the East Moravian Church, all of the buildings had been moved 
at least once in order to save them, and that they were not receiving adequate care, 
maintenance, and protection from vandalism. As the concept developed further, it won 
approval in a local referendum. It also received the support of the State Historical 
Society^ and of the Wisconsin governor* Governor Patrick Lucey referred specifically 
to the advantages of moving the historic structures to the park "in which their inter­ 
pretation, operation, maintenance and security can be handled more efficiently," and 
said that he hoped that community residents who had expressed reservations would give 
the park "the support which will make it a major cultural resource of the Green Bay 
community and the state. fl1^

A series of events and cooperative efforts between state agencies and both local 
government and private agencies in Green Bay and Brown County made possible and gave 
impetus to the establishment of an ideal, permanent site for Green Bay's historic 
buildings, to be known as Heritage Hill State Park* In 1971 the Wisconsin Department 
of Health and Social Services transferred ownership of the needed acreage of state 
reformatory property to the Department of Natural Resources, which operates the state 
pjark system. Governmental and historical agencies of Green Bay and Brown County formed 
Heritage Hill Foundation, Inc., which worked cooperatively with the Bureau of Parks and 
Recreation of the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources in the planning and develop­ 
ment of Heritage Hill State Park as a Wisconsin American Revolution Bicentennial pro­ 
ject. During 1975 and 19T6 ownership of the Baird Law Office, Cotton House, Tank Cot­ 
tage, and the Fort Howard Hospital, Ward Building and Officers Quarters was transferred 
to the State and those buildings not already on the park site were moved there. The 
Cotton House, which overlooks the entire park from the top of the hill, did not have 
to be moved. However the Baird Law Office, which had stood on the lawn near the north­ 
east corner of the Cotton House since 1960 but lacked any historical relationship to the 
stately house, was moved approximately 1300 feet northwest to a site along the northern 
edge of the park, where it is now part of a streetscape that includes the old Allouez 
town hall (1870's), a blacksmith shop (1897), a replicated general store, and a house 
that was built c, 1870 to become Green Bay's first Y.M.C.A. This placed the Baird Law 
Office in a more authentic kind of context than it has had at any time since it was 
moved from the Baird property c. 1875,

Because the Baird Law Office has been moved five times since it was built and four 
times since Henry S. Baird used it, its historical integrity can hardly be considered as 
being affected by the move to its new, permanent site. Its structural integrity has been
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retained through rehabilitation and faithful restoration, and its preservation is now 
assured by regularly programmed maintenance and protection against vandalism.

Although the new setting of the Baird Law Office is on land that possesses histori­ 
cal significance as part of the site of Camp Smith, a short-lived military post begun 
in 1820 as a temporary offshoot of Fort Howard, the intrusion of the law office and 
other buildings cannot be said to have an adverse effect. For many years prior to the 
establishment of Heritage Hill State Park, most of the land, including the area in which 
the Baird Law Office is located, served as the truck farm, hay field, and orchard of 
the Wisconsin State Reformatory. Along the central part of the southern edge of the 
park a few apple trees remain; the rest has a cover of tall grass which is left in a 
more or less natural state in areas not occupied by the asphalt-paved trailway and by 
the various buildings of the park and their lawns or yards. Rail fences zigzag through 
parts of the long grass.

What now remains of the old Camp Smith site slopes westward from a crest along 
South Webster Avenue down to the east bank of the Fox River, a distance of some 2600 
feet* Before the creation of Heritage Hill State Park, the Cotton House, which is 
situated at the eastern (upper) area of the park and faces westward, had an imposing 
view of the river. (See aerial photograph of the park site before development.) 
Although creation of the park did not obstruct this view, it did introduce a definite 
intrusion. Mitigating against the seriousness of this intrusion is the fact that the 
Cotton House itself was moved to its present site in 1941, taking it out of its own 
original context. On its original location about a mile north of Heritage Hiii f the 
Cotton House did not have the clear overview that it has now. Like the other histori­ 
cally significant buildings in Heritage Hill State Park, the Cotton House was also 
saved from eventual loss by destruction, neglect, or vandalism.

1. Perrin, p. 29
2. Baird, Elizabeth Therese, "...Territorial Wisconsin"
3. Green Bay Press-Gazette, June 21, 1955
4. Ibid., July 1, 1953
5. Ibid., June 21, 1955
6. Ibid.
7. Ibid., June 23, 1955
8. Information from Brown County Historical Society
9. Press-Gazette, February 4, 1960

10. Resolution, Board of Curators, State Historical Society of Wisconsin, 
	February 23, 1974

11. Lucey to Wendels and Rood, September 9, 1975
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Architect tire

The Baird Law Office is significant as one of two known Templewstyle Greek Revival 
buildings remaining in Wisconsin that are of unusually diminutive scale but with 
especially careful execution of detail**•

Politics/Government* Law

2 The Baird Law Office is believed to be the oldest law office west of the Great Lakes
and.was built before the Wisconsin Territory was established* Henry S. Baird, who occu­ 
pied and used it, was admitted to the bar in 1823 at Mackinac Island, moved to Green Bay t 
and at a special session of Judge James Duane Doty's court, on October 4, 1824, was ad­ 
mitted to practice before the Michigan Territorial Court, becoming the first professional 
lawyer to practice in what is now Wisconsin*^ He is also known as "the father of the Wis­ 
consin Bar. Baird tvas an organizer of the association and one of its early presidents*"^ 
He was a counsel for the Winnebago and Menominee tribes during negotiations .for sale-; 
of their lands in the 1830s, a. secretary to Henry-Bodge .{during- the signing ofrthei;! 
Treaty at the Cedars in 1836, and a secretary at the council held at Lake Poygan in 1848. 
Elected to the Wisconsin Territorial Council in 1836 as a Whig, Baird served as president 
during its first session. From 1836 to 1839 he was Attorney General for the Wisconsin 
Territory; in 1846 he was a delegate to the Wisconsin Constitutional Convention; in 1853 
he was the Whig candidate for governor; and in 1861-62 he was mayor of Green Bay. He 
retired from active practice in 1865,5 although he remained active in civic and business 
affairs until his death in 1875.

Exploration/Settlement

Baird's wife, Elizabeth Therese Fisher Baird, came with him to Green Bay from Mackinac 
Island as a fourteen-year-old bride in 1824 and became one of the most popular and his­ 
torically famous women on the Wisconsin frontier. Her stories of her experiences as a 
girl on the island and her life in territorial Wisconsin have been preserved by the 
State Historical Society of Wisconsin and are a valuable source of information on western 
history of her time* She contributed greatly to her husband's success in law and politics 
"as an interpreter for his French clientele, and because of her wide knowledge of the area
and its inhabitants."6 The Law Office is the only remaining building'associated with 
the Bairds.
TIPerrin, 29-30
2» Press-Gazette, July 1, 1953
3* Dictionary of Wise OPS in^iography, 21
4. Press-Gazette, June 21, 1955
^* ^j^>onarry, °£ Wisconsin Biography, 21-22
6. Ibid.,22
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 
Centered in an undelineated lot approximately 35 f x 45' in the northwest part of 
Heritage Hill State Park, Private Claim 19, Town of Allouez, Brown County, Wisconsin
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